IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 04-1610

ANTHONY FARINA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARIE-LOUISE SAMUELS PARMER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0005584

DAVID D. BASS Assistant CCRC FLORIDA BAR NO. 0920290 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 Corporex Park, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813) 740-3544

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Anthony Farina's motion for post conviction relief which was brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Anthony Farina and his brother, Jeffrey Farina, were charged by indictment with one count of first degree murder, three counts of attempted first degree murder, armed robbery, burglary and conspiracy to commit murder. Anthony and Jeffrey plead not guilty to all charges and requested a jury trial. They were tried together and convicted on all counts. The trial court sentenced them to death for the murder of Michelle Van Ness and to six consecutive life sentences on the remaining counts. The jury recommendation as to Anthony was seven to five in favor of death; the recommendation for Jeffrey was 9 to 3 in favor of death. The trial judge sentenced the Farina brothers to death. This Court reversed the death sentences and remanded for a new penalty phase proceeding due to error in jury selection. Farina (Anthony) v. State, 679 So. 2d. 1151(Fla. 1996); Farina (Jeffery) v. State, (680 So. 2d 392, 396-99 (Fla. 1996).

Once again, the Farinas were tried together over defense objection and sentenced to death. This time, the state presented, over defense objection, extensive victim impact testimony, had a witness read portions of the Bible suggesting biblical law required the jury to impose a death sentence, repeatedly misstated the law and facts and made improper arguments during closing argument. The jury recommendation for death changed from the seven to five vote in the initial penalty phase to a vote of twelve to zero.

Anthony Farina filed a timely Notice of Appeal. Appellate counsel filed a brief raising twelve issues¹: 1) the State improperly used peremptory challenges to strike African-American jurors; 2) the trial court erred in denying a motion in limine to exclude a tape of a conversation between Anthony and Jeffery; 3) the trial court erred in denying a motion to suppress the

¹ Two of the claims were raised in a supplemental brief which related to the fundamental disparity of Anthony's death sentence in light of this Court's opinion

conversation; 4) the trial court erred in denying his motion to sever Anthony's resentencing from Jeffery's resentencing; 5) the trial court erred in admitting victim impact evidence, in allowing the victim impact evidence to become a feature of the trial and refusing to give a limiting instruction; 6) the trial court erred in finding the HAC aggravator; 7) the trial court erred in finding the CCP aggravator; 8) the trial court erred in finding the avoid arrest/witness elimination aggravator; 9) Anthony's death sentence is not proportionally warranted; 10) Florida's death penalty is unconstitutional because a) the statutory aggravating factors in §921.141 do not genuinely limit the class of persons subject to the death penalty and are unconstitutionally vague and arbitrary, both facially and as applied; b) the requirement that a defendant must prove that "sufficient mitigating circumstances exist which outweigh the aggravating considerations found to exist" is unconstitutonally vague and arbitrary; c) requiring the defendant to prove sufficient mitigating circumstances exist that outweigh the aggravating circumstances violates due process; d) the statutory aggravating factors are applied by juries, judges and this Court in an arbitrary, capricious manner which violates due process, equal protection and cruel and/or unusual punishment; e) the failure to require the state to provide notice of the statutory aggravating factors used to justify the imposition of the death penalty violates due process, denies effective assistance of counsel and the right to prepare a meaningful defense; f) because the substance of the statute is defined on a case by case basis by the court and not the legislature; g) the failure to require a finding by the jury as to what aggravators were found and weighed denies meaningful appellate review; g) death by electrocution constitutes cruel and unusual punishment; 11) Anthony is entitled to a new sentencing proceeding in light of the actual shooter's life sentence;

reversing Jeffery's death sentence during the pendency of Anthony's appeal...

12) death is disproportionate compared to cases where the triggerman received life. This Court affirmed Anthony's sentence but reduced Jeffrey's sentence to life because Jeffrey, the undisputed triggerman, was 16 years old at the time of the offense.² Farina (Anthony) v. State, 801 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 2001); Farina (Jefferey) v. State, 763 So. 2d 302, 303 (Fla. 2000). In Anthony's case, this Court held: 1) the trial court's ruling accepting the state's reasons for striking the African-American jurors was not clearly erroneous; 2) Anthony's taped statement was properly admitted into evidence as proof of his intent at the time of the offense; 3) the trial court appropriately struck Anthony's motion to suppress; 4) the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant Anthony's motion to sever Jeffery's statements as a violation of his right to confront witnesses against him and the right to an individualized sentencing process because the jury could differentiate between the defendants; 5) the trial court did not err in admitting victim impact evidence, did not allow the evidence to become a feature of the trial and gave an appropriate limiting instruction; 6) the HAC aggravator was properly found because it focuses on the victim's perception rather than the perpetrator's; 7) the CCP aggravator was supported by evidence that the robbery was planned, the brothers purchased bullets for the weapon and Anthony and Jeffrey discussed the shooting of the employees after they were placed in the cooler but before Jeffrey shot them; 8) the avoid arrest/witness elimination aggravator, which requires proof that the sole or dominant motive for the killing was to avoid arrest, was proven based on the fact that the brothers knew the victims, the victims did not resist and that

² Anthony was 18 years old at the time of the offense with an undisputed emotional age of 14, a factor which was given only moderate weight by the trial court.

Jeffrey shot the victims with the intent to kill them; 9) 11) and 12)³ that Anthony's death sentence is proportional because he was equally culpable as Jeffrey, and Jeffrey's life sentence is irrelevant to Anthony's proportionality analysis since Jeffrey was 16 years old and that Anthony's death sentence is proportional in comparison to other capital cases; 10) Florida's death penalty statute is constitutional. <u>Farina (Anthony) v. State</u>, 801 So.2d 44 (Fla. 2001). Justice Anstead, dissenting, urged reversal of Anthony's death sentence:

³ This Court addressed issues 9, 11 and 12 together.

While I agree with almost all of the court's analysis, I cannot agree that the defendant here is not entitled to have a new sentencing before a judge and jury that, unlike the judge and jury here, are informed and able to fully consider the critical fact that the codefendant and actual killer has received a life sentence for the same murder.

The majority fails to consider that both brothers received a death recommendation by the *same jury* and were sentenced to death by the *same judge, before* our decision in *Brennan*. Hence, the sentencing jury and judge were operating under the misconception and false assumption that *both* Jeffery and Anthony would be put to death for their participation in this crime, while in reality it turns out that the more culpable of the two, the actual killer will not be put to death. Such patent disparity has consistently resulted in this Court either reducing a codefendant's sentence to life or directing a new sentencing proceeding where the sentencing jury and judge are properly informed of this critical factor. We should do no less here.

Farina, 801Farina v. Florida, 536 U.S. 910 (2002)

The postconviction court summarily denied Claims I, II, IV- XI and XIII as procedurally barred and/or without merit and partially denied Claim III as procedurally barred, by order dated August 8, 2003. ⁴ Vol. III, p. 478. The postconviction court did not rule on the amended claims prior to the evidentiary hearing. The evidentiary hearing was held December 8, 2003. Trial counsel, William Hathaway, testified that his theory of defense in Mr. Farina's case was that Anthony was not the active participant, he did not fire the gun and he did not "wield" the knife. Vol. I, p. 30. He also believed that Anthony had additional mitigators which did not apply to Jeffrey. Id. He further stated that he would have liked to call Jeffrey as a witness at trial but

⁴ The lower court's order was not included in the Record on Appeal. The cite is to a later Order wherein the lower court references the August 8, 2003 Order. Counsel has filed a Motion To Correct Record with this Court but as of the filing of this

was prevented from doing so because of Jeffrey's status as a co-defendant. Vol. I, p.31. Trial counsel stated that if he could, he would have presented testimony from Jeffrey supporting his theory. He agreed that he would have, if Jeffrey had been available as a witness, presented testimony from Jeffrey establishing that Jeffrey was in control during the robbery, that the shooting was his idea and not Anthony's, that he alone stabbed the victim without Anthony's help, and, that no one, including Anthony, could have stopped him from killing on that day. Vol. I, p.31-32.

Trial counsel conceded that it was important to present evidence that Jeffrey was the hottempered, aggressive brother and that Anthony was "laid back" and passive. Vol. I, p.32-33. Counsel also conceded that prior to trial he reviewed a 1992 law enforcement interview of Susen Griffith, Jeffrey and Anthony's mother, where Ms. Griffith told law enforcement that Jeffrey was the more hot-tempered and violent of her two sons. Vol. I, p. 33-34

Susen Griffith testified that Anthony was "more of a follower." Vol. I, p. 43. Jeffrey, on the other hand "had a very short fuse and a temper." Id. Ms. Griffith described an incident where Jeffrey "punched the door and busted the window" when he was at school. Id. He used so much force that he broke "the bone in his hand." Vol. I, p. 48. She also said that Jeffrey would punch the walls or other things when he got mad but that Anthony was not violent like that. Vol. I, p. 44. Jeffrey's anger problem was severe enough that he was in counseling at the recommendation of school authorities. Vol. I, p.47-48. She also said that Jeffrey was the leader of the two boys. Id. She also confirmed that the gun belonged to Jeffrey. Id. Anthony, unlike Jeffrey, never showed an interest in guns and knives. Vol. I, p. 45. Further, Anthony never owned a gun. Id.

brief, this Court has not ruled on the Motion.

Katrina Bergenty, Jeffrey and Anthony's sister, testified that Jeffrey had a shorter temper and was the leader between the two brothers. Vol. I, p.50-51.

Tina O'Neill, a family friend, described Jeffrey as having a "dark side," where he would become very angry, pick fights with Anthony and usually win the fights. Vol. I, p.55-56. Ms. O'Neill also confirmed that Jeffrey was frequently suspended for fighting at school and she had often seen him punch holes in doors and walls. Vol. I, p.57-58. Anthony, to her knowledge, did not get in trouble at school for fighting. Vol. I, p. 58. Ms. O'Neill also confirmed that Jeffrey was the leader of the two. Id. She also confirmed that it was common knowledge within the household where Jeffrey lived that he had a gun and that, in fact, her husband saw him with the gun intending to commit suicide. Vol. I, p.64, 66. Ms. O'Neill also confirmed that Jeffrey owned knives, Vol. I, p. 67, and that Anthony did not. Vol. I, p.70.

Jeffrey Farina testified that the Florida Supreme Court vacated his death sentence on appeal and imposed a life sentence because he was sixteen years old at the time of the crime. Vol. I, p.74. Jeffrey explained that the family moved into the Rollie Motel a few months prior to the crime. Id. Jeffrey had actually rented the motel room under the name Buddy Chapman. Id. Jeffrey used the name and identity of Buddy Chapman because "it was easier to function with an identity that stated I was 20 than as a sixteen year old." Vol. I, p. 75.

Jeffrey described his relationship with Anthony as different from a typical older/younger brother relationship. Id. The decision making was shared by the brothers. Further, Jeffrey made a number of significant decisions for Anthony, including a decision in 1991 to refuse to move to Georgia with their mother. Vol. I, p. 75-76. Jeffrey also helped Anthony get a job and would help Anthony "straighten" out any problems at work, either by fixing the problem himself or talking

to Anthony's boss to help resolve problems. Vol. I, p. 77. Jeffrey admitted that he was violent and had a bad temper in 1992. Vol. I, p.94. Anthony, however, was more passive and considered "laid back." Vol. I, p. 95.

Jeffrey also admitted that in 1992 he bought a gun, in part to protect himself and the family from the "crack dealers and prostitutes" that also lived at the Rollie Motel. Vol. I, p. 79. Jeffrey described his near suicide attempt with the gun in early 1992, approximately two to three months prior to the Taco Bell robbery and shooting. Jeffrey explained that he "didn't care whether [he] lived or died. And I'm not sure what was everything in my mind, but it was something that I thought hard about." Vol. I, p. 81. Jeffrey also said that he slept with the gun every night, envisioning himself as the protector of his family, including protecting his older brother, Anthony. Vol. I, p. 82.

Jeffrey conceded that Anthony had approached him about committing a robbery and had asked to borrow a knife. Vol. I, p. 82. Ultimately, Jeffrey and Anthony prepared for the Taco Bell robbery together, buying the rope, gloves and bullets. Vol. I, p. 83. However, the details of the robbery, including the roles the brothers would play, were not planned. Id.

On the night of the robbery, Jeffrey described a fateful conversation the brothers had while sitting outside the Taco Bell in their car, waiting for the Taco Bell to close. Anthony told Jeffrey that he didn't want to go through with the robbery, that he didn't think they could get in and he wanted to turn back. Vol. I, p. 84. Anthony further said, "I don't think we should do, this, let's go home." Vol. I, p.108. Jeffery told Anthony that he'd come all this way and "he wasn't turning back with nothing." Vol. I, p.84-85. At that point, Jeffrey felt that he was in charge. Vol. I, p. 85. Jeffrey described the robbery. He explained that he had the gun and Anthony had a knife. Vol. I,

p. 86. When they were tying up the victims, Anthony held the gun briefly, but then Jeffery took the gun back. Vol. I, p. 87. Jeffrey was the one who asked the victims to move to the cooler. Id. He also described the brothers' discussion about the fact that Anthony had been recognized. In response to Anthony's concern, Jeffrey said, "I'll shoot them." Vol. I, p. 88. Jeffrey described that at the time of the shooting the victims "didn't mean anything" to him and that no one, including Anthony, could have stopped him from killing. Vol. I, p. 89. Jeffrey confirmed that Anthony was in the cooler, behind Jeffrey, during the murder and attempted murders. Vol. I, p. 90. He also confirmed that after the gun misfired, he took the knife from Anthony and stabbed Kimberly Gordon. Id. At no point did Anthony touch Ms. Gordon during the stabbing. Vol. I, p. 95.

After the robbery, Jeffrey remained in charge, making a number of decisions for the brothers. Jeffrey directed Anthony to go to Park's because Jeffery decided to dispose of the remaining portion of rope, and the gun, gloves and knife at Park's. Vol. I, p. 91. Jeffrey also decided the "story" they would tell their mother to explain how they got the money. Vol. I, p.92 . Jeffrey also testified that he did not testify for his brother at trial because his attorney advised him against it. Vol. I, p. 95. Jeffrey also testified that his testimony at the postconviction hearing was consistent with what he had told Dr. Krop in 1992. Vol. I, p. 115.

Dr. Clifford Levin, a psychologist retained by Anthony's trial counsel, also testified. Dr. Levin was accepted as an expert in forensic psychology. Vol. I, p. 123. Dr. Levin evaluated Anthony in 1992 and 1998. Id. Dr. Levin diagnosed Anthony with the dominant feature of Dependent Personality Disorder and some features of an Antisocial Personality Disorder. Vol. I, p. 124, 162, 169-170. Dr. Levin explained that he diagnosed Anthony with a Dependent Personality Disorder based on Anthony's immaturity, his immature personality, his tendency to defer to others, and lack of a sense of self. Vol. I, p.125. At the time of the offense, Anthony was functioning at the level of a 14-year-old. Id.

Dr. Levin testified that, in preparation for the post conviction hearing, he was able to review Dr. Harry Krop's report on Jeffrey and also to interview Jeffrey at the Marion correctional Institute. Vol. I, p. 126. Prior to this time he had been unable to interview Jeffrey or review his file due to attorney client privilege.

Dr. Levin testified that Dr. Krop determined that Jeffrey suffered from brain damage caused by a head injury from a car accident which occurred when he was five. Vol. I, p. 127. Dr. Krop also determined that Jeffrey developed an explosive personality, causing him to fly into a rage and be very aggressive. Id. Dr. Krop's report also revealed that Dr. Krop found Jeffrey to be "pseudomature" in that he appeared to be a mature, responsible person who could manage his actions but was impulsive and immature in the way he carried out his actions. Id. Dr. Levin also determined, based on Dr. Krop's report, his interview with Jeffrey and other

family members, that Jeffrey's relationship with Anthony was one of interdependence and aggression. Vol. I, p. 128. "There were periods of time when [Jeffrey] was very physically assaultive of [Anthony]." Id. Jeffrey was a "very volatile young man." Id.

Dr. Levin also confirmed that Jeffrey's statements to him were consistent with Jeffrey's statements to Dr. Krop in 1992. Specifically, Jeffrey's description of himself and the events in 1992 were consistent with Dr. Krop finding Jeffrey to have impulse control problems, violent temper outbursts and an underlying depression where he did not care about what might happen to

him in his life. Vol. I, p. 129.

Dr. Levin testified that the new information he received from his interviews with Jeffrey, the family members, and Dr. Krop's report, lended new credibility to his earlier finding that Anthony had a passive and dependent personality to the extent that Dr. Levin believed Anthony was an extremely passive and dependent person. Vol. I, p. 130. Dr. Levin further concluded that Anthony was under the substantial domination of Jeffrey, based on years of the brothers living together with Jeffrey's violent temper and outbursts and aggressive behavior. Vol. I, p. 131-132. The court denied Mr. Farina's Motion To Vacate Judgement of Conviction by Order dated April 8, 2004 and filed April 12, 2004. (Vol. III, p. 478-495). Farina timely filed a Motion For Rehearing April 21, 2004. (Vol. III, p. 506-508). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1.The lower court erred in summarily denying a portion of Claim III, finding that consideration of Jeffrey's life sentence as newly discovered evidence was procedurally barred because this Court had considered it in its proportionality review and that "Jeffrey's sentence would be irrelevant as a matter of law in any re-sentencing for Anthony." The lower court also erred and made erroneous factual findings in denying the remainder of Claim III, finding that the testimony from the defense witnesses does not exculpate Anthony and that the testimony of the state witnesses and victims at trial disproves Anthony's claim that his brother was the more violent and aggressive of the two brothers and was the leader.

2. The lower court erred in finding that Anthony's amended claims were

procedurally barred because he failed to comply with Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 when the lower court had specifically ordered that Anthony could amend his motion for postconviction relief and the State failed to object to the introduction of testimony on the amended claims.

3. The lower court erred in denying Claim V, that trial

counsel rendered

ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to adequately investigate and present evidence that Anthony Farina acted under the domination of Jeffrey Farina and that Jeffery Farina's history of aggression and violence, coupled with Anthony's dependent personality disorder, resulted in Anthony deferring and submitting to Jeffrey.

4. The lower court erred in denying the following claims

without an

evidentiary hearing because they were properly pled, presented facts upon which relief could be granted and were not procedurally barred:

A.Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar prohibiting counsel from interviewing jurors violates Anthony Farina's rights under the the United States Constitution.

B.Counsel's failure to make adequate objections to the substance of the victim impact testimony violated Anthony Farina's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

C.The newly discovered evidence of his co-defendant's life sentence, which the sentencing judge and jury did not hear, warrants a new sentencing where

the finder of fact can reweigh the mitigating and aggravating factors (This claims is also argued in Argument I).

D. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in voir

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