IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY FARINA,

Case No. SC04-1610

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

¹⁴ The State does not concede any deficiency in counsel's performance -- however, Farina cannot, as a matter of law, establish prejudice because of this Court's decision on direct appeal.

C. The pre-trial and *voir dire* ineffectiveness claim was properly denied as procedurally barred.

On pages 62-63 of his brief, Farina argues that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a non-specific claim of ineffective assistance at the pre-trial and *voir dire* stages of his capital trial. In denying relief on this claim, the trial court stated:

The defendant claims he received ineffective assistance of counsel pretrial and during voir dire in that counsel failed to strike prejudiced jurors and failed to use all peremptory challenges, and that trial counsel was rendered ineffective by the improper rulings of the trial court. The state claims that the defendant does not specifically differentiate between the quilt phase or the resentencing phase, thus, it is impossible to identify what discrete claims are being raised. The state argues that this claim encompasses ineffectiveness based on improper rulings, which could have or should have been raised on appeal. Thus, they are procedurally barred. The state alternatively argues is prejudicial juror component procedurally barred as it was raised on direct appeal. The state finally argues that the failure to use all peremptory challenges as unreasonable attorney performance is nonsense. The state also notes that in the guilt phase, counsel requested and received six additional challenges, exhausted them, and was denied more. Thus, if the claim pertains to the guilt phase, it has no basis in fact.

This Court agrees with the state. First, all references to the improper rulings of the trial court are procedurally barred as these issues were or could have or should have been raised on direct appeal. Second, although denying on the procedural bar, this Court notes that this claim is also insufficient. Assuming that this claim refers to the re-sentencing jury as the guilt

phase counsel exhausted all peremptories, including additional ones, the defendant claims that counsel knew that most of the jurors held outside knowledge about the case, and that counsel failed to use all the peremptory with challenges in connection four challenged for cause but not stricken. defendant claims that this was unreasonable attorney performance and prejudiced remained on the jury, which adversely affected the outcome of his trial. This claim does not sufficiently set forth a pleading of prejudice and is mere general conclusion.

(R484). Those findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.

D. The suppression and denial of co-counsel claims are procedurally barred.

On pages 63-64 of his brief, Farina argues that he should have been afforded an evidentiary hearing on his claims regarding the suppression of certain tape recorded statements and the denial of his motion for co-counsel. The trial court found both claims procedurally barred, stating:

The defendant claims that counsel was ineffective in his representation in that he failed to adequately understand capital case law, and/or the trial court rendered counsel ineffective by failure to provide necessary funds. defendant claims that the Court's reliance on the "rule of the case" doctrine in ruling on the motion to sever and motion to play the tapes in entirety was improper because the new penalty phase was a de novo proceeding. The defendant claims had counsel known this case law, he could have persuasively and effectively argued the suppression of the tapes. The defendant also claims that counsel repeatedly requested cocounsel to assist in mitigation, however, the Court repeatedly heard these claims, but never

ruled on the motion. The defendant claims that the Court, in effect, rejected the motion without addressing the necessity of co-counsel. The defendant claims that he was denied a fair trial by counsel's ineffectiveness or by the Court's actions. The state contends that the failure to rule on co-counsel is procedurally barred as it could have or should have been raised on direct appeal. The state also contends that the failure to understand ineffectiveness claim is also procedurally barred as the merits of the trial motions were addressed on direct appeal, and the supreme court found them to be without merit.

This Court agrees with the state. These issues are procedurally barred. First, the rulings regarding the tapes and the severance were raised on appeal and rejected. Farina, supra, at 50-52. The defendant is only rephrasing these same claims in a guise of ineffective assistance of counsel, which is also procedurally barred. See Arbelaez, supra, at 915 (citing Valle, supra, at 1336 n. 6); Johnson, supra, at 207; Kight, supra, at 1066; Medina, supra, at 293; Kelly, supra, at 759; Blanco, supra, at 1377; Simpson, supra, at 314; Sireci, supra, at 119. Further, since the Florida Supreme Court found the admittance of the tapes and the denial of severance proper, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise futile arguments. See Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 1995); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1266 (Fla. 1990); King v. So. 2d 355, 357-58 (Fla. Dugger, 555 1990); Magill v. State, 457 So. 2d 1367, 1370 (Fla. 1984). Second, regarding the request for cocounsel, this is also an issue that could have or should have been raised on appeal rephrased in quise of ineffectiveness. Hence, barred. Further, the defendant does not allege any actions or omissions of counsel that fell below the reasonable standard, i.e., the defendant alleges that counsel repeatedly requested co-counsel. Thus, it is also insufficient.

(R484-5). Those rulings are correct, are in accord with long-settled Florida law, and should not be disturbed.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, this claim falls into the same category as subclaim B, above. It stands reason on its head to suggest that the trial court is required to conduct an evidentiary hearing on a claim of ineffectiveness when the underlying substantive claim was decided on direct appeal. At the most basic level, the doctrines of stare decisis and resjudicata foreclosed the trial court from granting relief, and an evidentiary hearing would have served no purpose unless the trial court is authorized to reverse a decision of this Court. That is not, and has never been, the law. Farina's argument has no basis in law or reason, and should be rejected.

V. THE "LEGAL CLAIMS" WERE PROPERLY DECIDED

On pages 65-73 of his brief, Farina raises eight (8) separately denominated claims relating to the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty act. These claims were raised in the trial court as Grounds VI, VII, VIII, IX, X, XI, and XIII. (R485-493). The trial court denied relief on these claims on procedural bar grounds, stating:

Ground **VI:** The defendant claims Florida's capital sentencing scheme unconstitutional on its face and as applied for failure to prevent the arbitrary and capricious imposition of death, and for violating the constitutional quarantees prohibiting cruel and unusual punishment, in violation of the Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments. Sixth, defendant alleges that execution by electrocution imposes physical and psychological torture, which constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. defendant alleges that the Florida death sentencing fails structure to provide proof, and standard of does not have independent reweighing of aggravating mitigating circumstances. The defendant contends that the aggravating circumstances in Florida have been applied in a vague and inconsistent manner, and the jury received vague instructions. defendant also asserts that Florida creates a presumption of death in every felony murder case. The state responds that these claims were, or could have or should have, been raised on direct appeal. Thus, they are procedurally barred. The state alternatively responds that the claims lack merit. This Court agrees with the state. The defendant raised numerous constitutional challenges to Florida's penalty statute on appeal, and these arguments were rejected by the supreme court, including the argument about execution by electrocution. Farina, supra, at 55. As the state points out, if the currently raised arguments are not identical those raised on appeal, they are also procedurally barred as they could have raised. See Johnson v. State, 769 So. 2d 990, 1005, n. 8 (Fla. 2000); Arbelaez, supra, at 915; Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 222-24 (Fla. 1998); Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d 244, 252-53 (Fla. 1995); Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 794 n. 7 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 508 U.S. 924 (1993). Finally, these claims have all been rejected as without merit by the supreme court. Hunter, supra, at 252-53; Fotopoulos, supra at 794 n. 7; see also Larzelere v. State, 676 So. 2d 394, 407-08 n. 7 (Fla. 1996).

Claim VII: The defendant asserts Florida's statute setting forth the aggravating circumstances is facially vague and overbroad in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. The defendant argues further that the facial invalidity was not cured because the jury did not receive adequate guidance. Thus, his sentence is premised upon fundamental death error. The defendant specifically points out that the CCP, prior violent felony, and HAC were vague and overbroad and counsel objected to the statute on these grounds. The defendant also contends that the state failed to prove the aggravators beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant finally asserts that to the extent counsel did adequately preserve this issue, he was denied effective assistance of counsel. The responds that this claim was, or could have or should have been, raised on direct appeal, and that alternatively, the claims lack merit. The state also responds that the ineffective portion is also procedurally barred as rephrasing of a direct appeal claim.

Court agrees with the state. The defendant raised numerous constitutional challenges to Florida's death penalty statute on appeal, and these arguments were rejected by the court, including the argument execution by electrocution. Farina, supra, at 55. As the state points out, if the currently raised arguments are not identical to those raised on appeal, they are also procedurally barred as they could have. See Johnson v. State, 769 So. 2d 990, 1005, n. 8 (Fla. 2000); Arbelaez, supra at 915; Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 222-24 (Fla. 1998); Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d 244, 252-53 (Fla. 1995); Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 794 n. 7 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 508 U.S. 924 (1993). Finally, although the Court is denying on the basis of the procedural bar, it notes that these claims have all been rejected as without merit by the supreme court. Hunter, supra, at 252-53; Fotopoulos, supra, at 794 n. 7; see also Larzelere v. State, 676 So. 2d 394, 407-08 n. 7 (Fla. 1996).

Claim VIII: The defendant claims that his sentence rests upon an unconstitutionally automatic aggravating circumstance in violation Stringer v. Black, Maynard v. Cartwright, Hitchcock v. Dugger, and the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments. The defendant contends that the jury was instructed, and the Court found, that the murder was committed during the course of a robbery. The defendant also contends that counsel objected to the instruction on the felony murder aggravating factor, but to the extent counsel failed to propose constitutionally adequate instruction and provide appropriate legal argument, counsel ineffective. The defendant contends that the use of this aggravator was illusory and an automatic aggravator. The state argues that this claim has no basis in fact as the Court did not find that aggravator.

This Court agrees with the state. This claim is conclusively refuted by the record warrants no relief. The Court did not find that the murder was committed during the course of a robbery. Farina, supra at 48 (showing that the Court found the murder was committed pecuniary gain). Furthermore, regarding the jury instruction portion of this claim, it is a claim that could have or should have been raised on direct appeal, and is also rephrased in the guise \circ f ineffective assistance. Thus, it procedurally barred. See Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 915 (Fla. 2000); see also Garcia v. State, 622 So. 2d 1325, 1326, n. 5 (Fla. 1993). Although denying due to the procedural bar, this notes that this automatic aggravator argument has been found without merit by the supreme court. See White v. State, 403 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1981), abrogation recognized, on other grounds, Holland v. State, 773 So. 2d 1065, 1078 (Fla. 2000); Teffeteller v. Dagger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1016, n. 9 (Fla. 1999) (citing Teffeteller v. State, 439 So. 2d 840, 846 (Fla. Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 1995) (citing Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988); and Stewart v. State, 588 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 503 U.S. 976 (1992)).

Claim IX: The defendant claims that the CCP aggravator is unconstitutionally vague, sentencing jury was improperly instructed on CCP, which as a matter of law did not apply to his case, in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. The defendant contends that the Court instructed the jury that they could consider that "the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification." The defendant states that counsel objected to the jury being instructed on CCP. The defendant contends that the instruction given was not in accordance with the limiting construction by the supreme court. The defendant also contends that to the extent counsel failed to adequately object, he received ineffective assistance of counsel. The state argues that this issue is procedurally barred as it was, or could have or should have been, raised on direct appeal. The state alternatively argues that the claim is without merit.

This Court agrees with the state. This claim is procedurally barred, as it was a direct appeal claim. Farina, supra, at 54. As the state points out, if the currently raised arguments are not identical to those raised on appeal, they are also procedurally barred as they could have been raised. See Johnson, supra, at 1005 n. Arbelaez, supra, at 915; Pope, supra, at 222-24. Finally, although denying on the basis procedural bar, this Court notes that the claim has been rejected as without merit by the supreme court where the facts clearly show CCP under any definition. Larzelere, supra, at 403; see also Farina, supra, at 54.

Claim X: The defendant claims that his jury was improperly instructed on the HAC aggravator in violation of Espinosa v. Florida, Stringer v. Black, Maynard v. Cartwright, Hitchcock v. Dugger, and the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. The defendant contends that the Court did not give the instruction approved in State v. Dixon, 233 So. 2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973). Thus, the jury was

instructed that they must find beyond a reasonable doubt that he intended his actions to Hence, the instruction HAC. was unconstitutionally vague. The defendant asserts that the state failed to prove HAC beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant states that counsel objected to HAC as an aggravator and the vagueness argument was presented to both the trial and supreme courts. The defendant contends that any failure to adequately raise this issue is ineffective assistance. The state argues that this claim is procedurally barred as a claim that could have or should have been raised on direct appeal. The state also argues that the jury was instructed in accord with settled law, hence counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for objecting to a jury instruction that correctly states the law. The state finally contends that Florida law is clear that there is no intent element to HAC.

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